

Addressing Climate-Related Financial Risk Through Bank Capital Requirements

By Gregg Gelzinis May 2021

Contents

1 Introduction and summary

- 3 Climate-related financial risks and the precautionary principle
- 9 Target acute microprudential transition risks
- 16 Implement a macroprudential capital surcharge
- 21 Integrate climate into new and existing stress tests
- 26 Tackle additional transition risks and physical risks
- 29 Follow climate risks into the shadow banking sector
- 32 Address risk now and consider green opportunity later
- 33 Conclusion
- 34 About the author
- 35 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

The climate crisis has profound implications for every sector of the economy, every corner of society, and every aspect of public policy. Several years ago, it may have been acceptable for U.S. financial regulators to brush climate change aside as an issue left to other government departments and agencies. Today, improved data and climate-risk economic analysis, coupled with strong international consensus, make it untenable for financial regulators to ignore the critical nexus of climate change and the financial system. Even some of the conservative regulators appointed by President Donald Trump now view climate change as an important priority that falls within their remit.¹

Attention has rightfully shifted from merely identifying and analyzing climate risk to actively addressing it through regulatory and supervisory levers.² There are a range of policy levers that regulators could use under existing authority to mitigate climate-related financial risks and ensure the financial system serves as a source of strength to the economy during the clean energy transition. Regulators could use disclosure rules to help investors and the public better understand the climate-related risks faced by financial institutions and corporations more broadly, as well as these organizations' contributions to the climate crisis.³ They could integrate climate risk into fiduciary requirements and require investment advisers to develop and implement sustainable investment policies. From credit rating agency oversight to using the Community Reinvestment Act to drive mitigation and adaptation investments in communities of color, there are many other policies that financial regulators could deploy to green the financial system. Moreover, Congress could go even further than financial regulators' significant, but constrained, authority and more directly phase out fossil fuel financing in an orderly fashion to mitigate these risks.⁴

One of the most powerful tools in financial regulators' arsenal is the bank capital framework, and it should be at the heart of efforts to improve the resilience of the financial system to climate-related risks. Capital requirements dictate the level of equity—stock and retained earnings—banks must use to fund their assets,

thereby restricting the amount of debt, or leverage, they can employ. Since equity capital does not have the same type of contractual repayment requirements as debt, it can be used to absorb losses in times of financial difficulty. Strong capital requirements help ensure banks can weather periods of stress while continuing to provide the credit and payment services upon which businesses and households rely. A banking system with too little capital is fragile and prone to crises that cause severe damage to workers, communities, and the broader economy.

This report advances a strategy for integrating climate risk into the capital framework—a strategy that deploys the type of cautious approach to financial stability that justifies vigorous and proactive action now, while acknowledging that some additional valuable—but more intricate—policies may take longer to develop and implement. Specifically, there are five capital-related steps financial regulators should take to mitigate climate-related financial risks:

- Adjust capital risk weights for bank exposures that face acute transition risks.
- Implement a macroprudential climate risk contribution capital surcharge.
- Establish long-term climate stress tests and add near-term climate variables to existing stress tests.
- Integrate additional transition risks and physical risks into capital risk weights.
- Follow climate risks into the shadow banking sector.

The policy recommendations included in this report can all be implemented under existing statutory authority, as Congress has granted the banking regulators broad discretion to develop capital standards that they deem appropriate.⁵ Stronger capital rules for climate exposures would increase the capacity of the banking system to withstand future climate-related losses, limiting the chances of a climate-driven banking crisis and positioning the banking system to support economywide decarbonization. Moreover, higher capital requirements for certain carbon-intensive financial activities would require banks to internalize the systemic costs their activities are placing on the financial system and broader economy, while providing meaningful social benefits to the economy by further lowering the chances of distress in the financial system.

Climate-related financial risks and the precautionary principle

Physical risks and transition risks are the two primary transmission channels through which climate change could impair financial institutions and markets. Physical risks stem from the increase in frequency and severity of extreme weather events and long-term environmental changes.⁶ More frequent and brutal wildfires, floods, hurricanes, droughts, and other extreme weather events threaten to damage physical assets and could impair the value of associated financial assets. For example, sea-level rise and extreme weather could cause significant losses for a commercial real-estate (CRE) company with damaged or possibly unusable properties along the coast. If the company is unable to meet its financial obligations due to the repair costs and lost tenant cash flows, it could then transmit losses to commercial mortgage-backed securities investors or banks with CRE loans on their balance sheets. Transition risks refer to the potential impact that clean energy technological advancements, shifts in consumer and investor sentiment, and inevitable policy interventions can have on risky carbon-intensive financial exposures.⁷ For example, in anticipation of policies that restrict and raise the cost of emissions, investors could severely reprice carbon-intensive financial instruments, triggering losses for exposed financial institutions and investors.

These risks have both microprudential and macroprudential implications. Microprudential risks involve the safety and soundness of individual financial firms. Climate change poses varying degrees of credit, market, liquidity, reputational, and operational risks to banks depending on the types of assets they hold and the geographic location of those assets, as well as the geographic location of the bank's operations. A bank that finances agricultural loans could face losses if droughts, floods, and pests decrease the crop yield for a farmer who then cannot meet her financial obligations. A bank that focuses on reserve-based lending to oil and gas exploration and production companies could face losses if hydrocarbon reserves are devalued as a result of the clean energy transition, increasing both the likelihood of default on the loan and the loss to the bank if the loan does, in fact, default. Macroprudential risks concern the stability of the financial system as a whole. From a macroprudential standpoint, the Federal Reserve has developed a framework that analyzes risks to financial stability that stem from both shocks and vulnerabilities.8 Shocks are endogenous or exogenous events that trigger losses or create disruptions for the financial system, such as a cyberattack, a trade war, or the bursting of an asset price bubble. Vulnerabilities in the financial system are structural characteristics that could amplify and transmit the negative impact of shocks, such as leverage, interconnectedness, inflated asset valuations, and shortterm funding. Climate change has implications for both types of macroprudential considerations, as it will drive more frequent and severe physical shocks and as the transition to a low-carbon economy could create shocks for carbon-intensive assets.⁹ Climate change also contributes to structural vulnerabilities for the financial system. For example, asset prices exposed to physical or transition risks are likely inflated due to opacity, underestimation of the risk, and the potentially correlated nature of the risks.¹⁰ As a result, financial institutions exposed to these assets could be more leveraged than they presently appear.¹¹ As the original authors of this financial stability dichotomy admit, the line between shocks and vulnerabilities can be blurry.¹² Inflated asset values for carbon-intensive assets are a vulnerability, while the bursting of the carbon bubble would be a shock.

Climate change rises to the level of a systemic threat given the magnitude of the risk, the wide array of financial firms with exposure to the risk, and the speed with which losses could materialize. If climate-related transition shocks or physical shocks cause severe losses at a systemically important financial institution or correlated losses among smaller financial firms, stress could be propagated throughout the financial system. Such a situation could trigger fire sales of impaired assets and creditor runs from exposed institutions, as well as create contagion—all of which would infect other financial institutions and markets that were not directly exposed to the initial climate event. A particularly troubling financial stability scenario could entail the materialization of both physical shocks and transition shocks in rapid succession. A brutal string of unprecedented natural disasters could spur idling policymakers to finally act aggressively to stabilize global temperatures. The more time that elapses without robust policy efforts to facilitate the clean energy transition, the more likely it becomes that this transition is conducted in a disorderly fashion to meet emissions targets. Under such a scenario, the financial system could face severe physical losses from the extreme weather events and losses related to the repricing of high-carbon assets almost simultaneously. It's important to note that physical and transition shocks, and an abrupt repricing of affected assets, could also be triggered by the anticipation of

physical and transition events—before any such event actually occurs. Climaterelated financial sector vulnerabilities such as inflated asset valuations and excessive leverage would exacerbate the severity of these shocks and the extent to which they are amplified and transmitted throughout the financial system. Another macroprudential concern, short of a systemic crisis, is that physical and transition risk-related losses could chronically erode the resilience of financial institutions over time and leave the system vulnerable to other shocks.

One of the most important lessons policymakers should have learned from the 2008 financial crisis is the importance of deploying a precautionary principle when regulating the financial system. As Professor Hilary Allen describes it, "This principle is essentially a more sophisticated version of the old adage, 'better safe than sorry,' counseling regulators to err on the side of regulating an activity when the outcome of that activity is uncertain, but potentially irreversible and catastrophic."13 In the run-up to the 2008 crisis, many policymakers assumed financial crises were a thing of the past and did not cast a skeptical eye toward the development of new complex financial products and systemic interconnections.¹⁴ A laissez-faire deregulatory approach, the opposite of the precautionary principle, dominated the three decades leading up to the crisis and set the stage for the resulting catastrophe. Regulators must have humility about their ability to predict the precise causes and complex effects of financial crises, which are high-impact and low-probability events that carry substantial inherent uncertainty. Regulators must act to ensure the financial system is resilient to extreme, but plausible, tailrisk scenarios. The severe and lasting economic and social damage wrought by instability in the financial system warrants this type of precautionary approach to regulation—one that favors proactive and robust safeguards in the face of uncertain, but potentially catastrophic, risks.

Certainty regarding the near-term private costs of regulation and uncertainty regarding the precise value of social benefits—which are no doubt to be large in magnitude—should not unduly hamstring regulators. Climate-related financial risks are a special case that warrants a particularly proactive approach.¹⁵ Climate change is itself a high-impact and high-probability occurrence. It is clear that climate change will have, and is having, significant negative effects on the planet, economy, and financial system. There is no doubt about the likelihood of climate change and no doubt about the general magnitude of its damaging impacts under various warming scenarios. It is also clear that the transition to a low-carbon economy, necessary to stabilize global temperatures, is going to affect financial institutions and markets, depending on in how orderly a manner such a transition

is executed. There is significant uncertainty, however, regarding the timeline of climate-related financial stability risks; the precise magnitude of the economic value at risk; and the exact manifestation of those risks on a range of financial assets, markets, and institutions. The answers to many of these questions hinge on emissions going forward and the resulting warming pathway, as well as the future actions taken by policymakers, technological advancements, and shifts in market sentiment. The uncertainty is also fueled by difficulties modeling climate change and its impacts, including its nonlinear nature, the existence of tipping points, and the interactions with complex environmental systems.¹⁶ It is clear, however, that climate-related risks could have a catastrophic impact on financial institutions and markets, and ultimately disrupt financial stability.

Moreover, regulators globally have only started to collect the data necessary to carefully evaluate these risks and are just now engaging with scientists and climate economists to gain their insights. It would be quite easy for financial regulators to spend the next decade collecting more data, researching the issue, improving modeling approaches, and better mapping climate-related risks onto the financial system—avoiding any actual steps to safeguard the financial system from these risks. It's true that all of the aforementioned actions are critical and necessary, but regulators should not allow uncertainty surrounding precise climate effects or the exact future course of the clean energy transition to halt action today.¹⁷ The potential damage to the financial system is too great for regulators to wait, and a significant level of uncertainty will persist given the complex nature of this risk. These risks are only intensifying, and the perfect cannot be the enemy of the good. As Federal Reserve Governor Lael Brainard recently stated:

Despite the challenges, it will be critical to make progress, even if initially imperfect, in order to ensure that financial institutions are resilient to climate-related financial risks and well-positioned for the opportunities associated with the transition to a more sustainable economy.¹⁸

Regulators know enough about climate-related risks, their causes, and potential consequences to take some powerful immediate steps to safeguard the financial system from this impending risk. The longer regulators wait, the higher the potential costs. While a granular cost-benefit analysis is not possible, it is clear that the long-term social benefits of meaningfully reducing the likelihood of a climate-driven financial crisis far exceed the relatively minor private costs that come with stronger financial regulation. Strong financial regulatory policies that bolster the resilience of the financial system to climate-related risks would be a form of financial stability insurance.

Some commentators have argued that focusing on climate change could threaten financial regulators' independence and credibility (particularly the Federal Reserve's), as well as democratic legitimacy.¹⁹ Members of the Fed's Board of Governors appointed by both Democrats and Republicans now agree that climate change intersects with the agency's statutory mandates.²⁰ The evidence is clear that climate-related risks have both microprudential and macroprudential implications for financial institutions and markets.²¹ A failure to evaluate and mitigate these risks simply because some members of one political party in Congress deny the existence of the underlying source of the risk would be the real threat to the Fed's independence and credibility. The Fed should not let fear of political backlash prevent it from executing its mission. The Fed and other financial regulators are not charged with "solving climate change," and proponents of aggressive climate-related financial regulatory action do not make such a claim. Tackling the climate crisis requires an all-of-government approach. Agencies across the policy spectrum, including financial regulators, must act to address climate-related issues that fall within their respective jurisdictions. Integrating climate considerations into financial regulatory and supervisory frameworks isn't a silver bullet, but it's a necessary step to mitigate the devastating economic effects wrought by climate change. These actions would also put the financial system in a position of strength to facilitate economywide decarbonization and limit the chances that the muchneeded clean energy transition instead destabilizes the financial system.

International regulators have acknowledged the severity of these climate-related risks and the need for financial regulators to act. The Network for Greening the Financial System (NGFS) was established in December 2017 by eight central banks as a coordinating body for those central banks and supervisors committed to tackling climate-related financial risks.²² Since then, NGFS membership has expanded to 90 members and 13 observers, representing more than 85 percent of global gross domestic product and the vast majority of the world's systemically important financial institutions.²³ Many NGFS members have begun to adapt their core regulatory and supervisory frameworks accordingly. The United States, however, remains painfully behind. The Federal Reserve announced that it finally joined the NGFS in December 2020, but it remains the only federal financial regulator from the United States to have joined the coalition.²⁴ The lack of engagement on this issue internationally undermines the U.S. role as a leader both on climate policy and financial services policy. U.S. federal regulators have not yet taken any meaningful steps to embed climate risk considerations into their regulatory and supervisory frameworks. To the contrary, some Trump-appointed regulators actually advanced policies that would actively prevent financial institutions from accounting for climate risk.²⁵

7 Center for American Progress | Addressing Climate-Related Financial Risk Through Bank Capital Requirements

There are a range of policy tools that regulators should use under existing authority to bolster the resilience of the financial system to climate-related risks and to prevent financial institutions from further exacerbating these risks.²⁶ One less-discussed, but powerful, regulatory tool that should be part of such an agenda is the bank capital framework—arguably the most important pillar of banking regulation. There are several ways climate risk should be integrated into bank capital requirements, as outlined in the following sections.

Target acute microprudential transition risks

The problem: Financial assets tied to the fossil fuel sector could lose significant value as the economy decarbonizes and transitions to a reliance on clean energy. Transition-related losses could threaten the safety and soundness of banks that are invested in fossil fuel assets, posing risks to public funds and the communities served by the banks.

The solution: Regulators should increase the risk weights for fossil fuel assets in the capital framework so banks have to fund these riskier exposures with more loss-absorbing equity capital and less debt. The exact increase in risk weights for a range of different fossil fuel assets should be determined by the level of revenue the borrower or counterparty derives from fossil fuel-related activities; the different transition risk intensities among oil, gas, and coal; the length of the exposure; and other variables.

In order to stabilize global temperatures and mitigate the chances of catastrophic climate impacts on the planet, climate policymakers have to take legal and regulatory steps to drastically decrease greenhouse gas emissions. The Paris Agreement, signed by the United States and more than 190 parties in 2015, aims to limit global temperatures to well below 2 degrees Celsius above preindustrial levels, and ideally 1.5 degrees Celsius.²⁷ The Paris Agreement also commits signatories to aligning finance flows with the low-carbon transition. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's special report in 2018 underscored the imperative to keep warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius, given the severe consequences associated with even 2 degrees Celsius of warming.²⁸ The scientific projections suggest that global emissions must reach net zero by 2050 to plausibly hit the 1.5-degree target.²⁹ Achieving these climate goals will require a fundamental restructuring of the economy. This low-carbon transition isn't several decades away. In many respects it has already begun, but further robust policy changes are required in the near term to hit these targets. Emissions must decline by at least 45 percent from 2010 levels by 2030 to remain on track.³⁰ The United States presently derives roughly 20 percent of its energy from clean sources, while 80 percent is derived from fossil fuels.³¹ President Joe Biden has committed to putting the United States on a path to achieve 100 percent clean energy by 2050.³²

Financial regulators are not responsible for setting climate policy, but they do have a responsibility to prepare the financial system for the financial impacts triggered by the large-scale decarbonization of the economy. If policymakers implement the legal and regulatory actions necessary to meet these emission and temperature targets, banks whose risky carbon-intensive balance sheets do not align with the transition could face significant losses. Financial instruments tied to carbonintensive sectors, such as fossil fuel companies, fossil-driven utilities, transportation, agriculture, chemical and metal production, and mining, could face a severe repricing as policies restrict and raise the costs of emissions.

Companies engaged in high-carbon activities would face increased costs and the potential for fully or partially stranded assets.³³ For example, the implementation of rigorous energy efficiency standards and other policy interventions that limit emissions would severely diminish the value of hydrocarbon reserves. According to one estimate, 80 percent of current coal reserves, 50 percent of gas reserves, and 33 percent of oil reserves would have to remain unused to have a 50 percent chance of keeping warming below 2 degrees Celsius.³⁴ Those figures would have to write down the value of those fully or partially stranded assets on their balance sheets, impairing their financial condition and reducing their ability to meet their financial obligations. This dynamic would create losses for their equity investors, creditors, and counterparties, including banks. Moreover, bank loans to fossil fuel companies are often secured by hydrocarbon reserves. Transition-related risks can therefore increase the likelihood of default on a loan, as well as the loss to the bank if the loan does default, since the collateral would lose value.³⁵

This risk is not theoretical, as companies are beginning to face the prospects of transition-related write-downs. For example, BP wrote down \$17.5 billion in assets in June 2020 after lowering its long-term fossil fuel price assumptions, and Total SE took a \$7 billion hit on Canadian oil sands assets in July 2020.³⁶ Regulators are also increasingly requiring fossil fuel companies to post additional financial resources to cover the eventual retirement costs associated with safely decommissioning their assets.³⁷ This type of collateral requirement is intended to limit the chances that fossil fuel companies create stranded liabilities by leaving the decommissioning costs to the government after the company fails. Requiring companies to appropriately bear these costs upfront, instead of letting the public foot the bill later, will likely speed up the stranding of assets and further strain their financial condition.³⁸

The magnitude of potential financial losses and the prospect for broader stability issues in the banking system increase if the transition is disorderly. Under such a scenario, policymakers would slow-walk the actions necessary to meet emission and temperature targets, before eventually taking more aggressive and rapid actions to make up for lost time. Financial losses in the energy sector alone could reach \$1 trillion to \$4 trillion, depending on the extent to which the transition is disorderly.³⁹ Taking a broader view of transition-related risks, an estimate from the International Renewable Energy Agency suggests an abrupt and disorderly transition could cause upward of \$20 trillion in financial losses.⁴⁰ Technological advancements and changes in investor sentiments could also quickly trigger many of these dynamics in advance of any actual legal or regulatory changes.

In either an orderly or a disorderly scenario, banks with overly risky balance sheets that are not aligned with a low-carbon economy could face severe losses, increasing risks to the economy, communities, the Deposit Insurance Fund, and other public funds. Research suggests that the direct and indirect exposures to carbon-intensive sectors could propagate stress throughout the financial system and trigger broader instability in the banking system.⁴¹ Banking regulators should ensure that banks are resilient to the heightened credit, market, operational, reputational, and liquidity risks created by the clean energy transition and are well-positioned to meet the needs of a low-carbon economy.⁴² Immediate financial regulatory action can help prevent the carbon bubble from bursting suddenly, an event that former Governor of the Bank of England Mark Carney has referred to as a "climate 'Minsky moment."⁴³ As an early and important step toward that end, banking regulators should increase the risk-weighted capital requirements for the bank exposures facing the most acute transition-related risks. Accounting for severe transition risks in the capital framework quickly would improve the resiliency of banks and prevent the inevitable clean energy transition from causing instability in the banking system.

Some commentators have argued that integrating climate-related risks into the regulatory and supervisory framework is unnecessary since these risks are already "priced into" security values. A survey of institutional investors counters that assertion, as 93 percent responded that the implications of climate change had yet to be priced into markets.⁴⁴ Research surrounding the projected physical impacts of climate change and scenario analyses probing transition-related impacts support this view.⁴⁵ There are several reasons that investors have yet to price the impacts of climate change into valuations for a range of assets, including a lack of granular, comparable, and reliable corporate disclosure of climate-related risks; backward-looking pricing models that are not fit for purpose when analyzing forward-looking risks;

and the temporal mismatch between short-term corporate thinking and medium- to long-term climate risk materialization.⁴⁶ Even if climate-related risks were priced in, however, that would not absolve regulators of the need to design and implement climate-related financial regulations, including integrating climate risk into capital requirements. When a risk is accurately priced in, that simply means the value of the asset reflects some appropriate distribution of probabilities. The price, to oversimplify, reflects the weighted expected outcome. But regulators' goal is not to ensure the financial system is resilient in the face of the expected outcome. Regulators must ensure that the financial system can withstand extreme but plausible scenarios outcomes on the tail of the probability distribution. These tail events create systemic risk and naturally involve negative externalities, against which private actors do not have the incentive to self-insure. It's always better for a risk to be appropriately priced, since inflated asset valuations create additional financial sector vulnerabilities and can be the source of a shock if a bubble pops, but it doesn't eliminate the need for strong regulatory safeguards.

Banking regulators should first focus on the financial exposures that face the clearest and most direct transition-related risks: fossil fuel assets and fossil fuel infrastructure. Bonds, loans, and derivative transactions for companies that derive more than 15 percent of their revenue from the extraction, exploration, transportation, storage, exporting, or refining of oil, natural gas, or coal should be the top priority. The risk weights should be calibrated based on several factors, including: 1) the extent to which the company generates revenue from fossil fuel-related activities; 2) differentiation in transition risk intensity among oil, gas, and coal exposures; and 3) the length of the exposure. Regulators could also incorporate additional variables. One additional option is to treat financing for new and existing fossil fuel reserves and infrastructure differently, to the extent practicable. But regulators should not spend years trying to over-engineer the risk weights, adding needless complexity. As discussed later in this report, regulators should then look to adjust risk weights for additional financial exposures that also face serious transition-related risks.

The increased risk weights for bank exposures to fossil fuel assets and infrastructure should be calibrated based on the extent to which the borrower or counterparty derives its revenue from the extraction, exploration, transportation, storage, exporting, or refining of oil, natural gas, or coal. For example, a loan to an energy company that derives 80 percent of its revenue from fossil fuel-related activates should receive a higher risk weight than a loan to an energy company that derives 30 percent of its revenue from such activities. Factoring in a company's revenue breakdown would help account for the varying degrees of transition risk embedded in different exposures and, as a secondary consequence, create positive incentives for diversification. An energy company that generates an ever-decreasing share of its revenue from fossil fuels is better-positioned to navigate the low-carbon transition, and its loans or bonds generally pose less credit risk or market risk as a result. If energy companies adjust and reduce the share of their revenue that stems from fossil fuel activities, the transition risk capital adjustment would automatically decrease for the banks financing them, reflecting the commensurate decrease in transition risk.

Moreover, the different types of fossil fuels have differing transition risk profiles that should be reflected in the risk-weighted capital framework. Most notably, thermal coal exposures face more acute transition-related risks relative to other fossil fuel companies, since they are the most carbon-intensive fossil fuel.⁴⁷ In the revenue calculation, coal could be more heavily weighted than oil and gas revenues to account for this heightened risk.

In addition, it's important for the transition-risk capital adjustment to take the length of the exposure into account. Transition-related risks for these entities, and banks financing them, increase in magnitude over time. As time goes on, companies must either adjust to the progressively lower demand for fossil fuel activities under an orderly transition path or face the increasing prospects of swift and severe restrictions under a disorderly transition path. Either way, transition risk for firms that continue to derive significant revenue from these activities increases over time. All else equal, a five-year loan to an oil and gas exploration and production company faces more transition risk than a six-month loan. Accordingly, the transition risk weights should increase with the length of the exposure. Opponents to this policy may argue that oil and gas companies need capital to transition to low-carbon activities over time. If the increased capital charge on the five-year loan to the oil and gas company receives a higher risk weight, the argument goes, the company may not have affordable access to bank credit to make these investments. Again, this is why differentiation between companies based on revenue sources is critical. The risk weight for the exposure could be recalibrated annually and updated to reflect any changes in the revenue breakdown of the company. If the company is using the proceeds of that loan to expand into renewables, the risk weight will decline during the life of the loan accordingly. The companies, and banks, most affected by these risk-weight adjustments are those that do not diversify their revenue sources away from fossil fuel-related activities. Those companies face the most severe transition-related risks.

Relatedly, the transition risk weights should automatically increase every few years to reflect the increase in transition risk that necessarily builds up over time. Both the five-year and six-month loan mentioned above would face greater transition risk if issued five years from now than if issued today. The decreased demand for fossil fuels under an orderly transition scenario would increasingly strain the profitability and creditworthiness of companies that derive significant revenue from those activities. The automatic increase in risk weights would reflect the increasing likelihood that fossil fuel-intensive companies will face acute financial difficulties as the clean energy transition progresses. In the event that the transition is imprudently delayed or that improved scientific evidence suggests climate policymakers must take even more aggressive steps to decarbonize the economy on a tighter timeline to avoid tipping points and catastrophic warming, the transition risk capital charge's automatic increase would help protect against a rapid and disorderly transition. The automatic increase also provides banks an opportunity to work with their fossil fuel-intensive clients to diversify their revenue sources away from these high-carbon activities before facing the most stringent risk weights over time.

These core variables would help regulators differentiate the capital treatment for exposures with differing levels of transition risk. Regulators could certainly factor in additional considerations to improve the transition risk sensitivity of these capital adjustments. One additional factor worth exploring is the differentiation between exploration, production, and construction of new fossil reserves and infrastructure, versus fossil fuel-related activities involving existing reserves.⁴⁸ Given the policy actions required to meet emission and temperature targets, expanding current fossil fuel reserves and infrastructure has an even greater risk of creating stranded assets during the transition. It may be possible to integrate this factor into some financing structures, such as reserve-based lending, while it may prove impractical to consider this variable in more general financing vehicles such as corporate bonds. Regulators should seek to calibrate these risk-weight adjustments appropriately, based on the varying levels of transition risk posed by different exposures. But regulators should not seek to overcomplicate this effort and turn this push into an overly intricate tapestry that takes years to weave.

Currently, all corporate credit exposures receive a 100 percent risk weight under the standardized risk weights applied by the prudential banking regulators.⁴⁹ The risk weights for qualifying fossil fuel asset and infrastructure exposures should be adjusted upward based on the transition risk factors outlined above. First, there is precedent for breaking out a riskier subset of exposures and applying higher risk weights accordingly. In the postcrisis implementation of the Basel III capital accords, for example, regulators separated high-volatility commercial real-estate exposures (HVCRE) from other commercial exposures and assigned them a 150 percent risk weight. In the final rulemaking, regulators noted, that, "Supervisory experience has demonstrated that certain acquisition, development, and construction loans [HVCRE] ... present particular risks for which the agencies believe banking organizations should hold additional capital."⁵⁰ Similarly, exposures that could be severely affected by the transition to a low-carbon economy present additional risks, relative to other corporate exposures, and warrant higher capital requirements.

In terms of the magnitude of the upward adjustment in these risk weights, the Federal Reserve Board's 2016 proposed rule to tighten safeguards for bank holding companies' physical commodities activities should be instructive.⁵¹ When banks own, store, transport, trade, or otherwise engage in any activity related to physical commodities, they may be exposed to significant financial risks, including credit, market, legal, operational, and reputational risks. For example, a bank that owns oil and gas infrastructure could face liability under various state and federal environmental laws in the event of an ecologically damaging spill. The monetary penalties associated with those legal violations could threaten the bank's safety and soundness. The bank's reputation could also take a hit among its current and prospective customers and counterparties, further disrupting its financial condition. Banks are permitted to conduct these physical commodity activities pursuant to a few different legal provisions.⁵² The 2016 proposed rule would apply a 300 percent risk weight to physical commodities activities conducted under certain legal provisions and a 1,250 percent risk weight to riskier physical commodities activities conducted through a separate authority in banking law.⁵³ The risks associated with these activities are not easy to quantify precisely. But it is clear from past practice that the risks are significant in magnitude and warrant this type of precautionary approach. The nature of climate-related transition risks is distinct, but not dissimilar, to these particular physical commodities risks. The magnitude of potential losses could be significant, but they are uncertain and tough to quantify precisely. For these and other reasons outlined throughout this report, safeguarding banks against the microprudential transition risks these assets pose also warrants a precautionary approach. Accordingly, regulators should calibrate risk weights for fossil fuel assets and fossil fuel infrastructure exposures from 300 percent to 1,250 percent, based on the transition risk factors discussed previously.

Financial regulators must ensure the financial system is prepared to handle the transition to net zero and is positioned to support the economy during this period of decarbonization. Increasing the capital risk weights for fossil fuel assets and fossil fuel infrastructure, which face the most acute transition-related risks, would be an important step toward that end.

Implement a macroprudential capital surcharge

The problem: Large financial institutions are continuing to finance significant levels of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions through their investing, underwriting, trading, and off-balance-sheet activities. Financing GHG emissions intensifies climate change and increases the physical and transition risk-related losses that the financial system could face in the future.

The solution: Regulators have a responsibility to mitigate financial risks created by financial institutions, not only the risks to which financial institutions themselves are exposed. Accordingly, regulators should implement a macroprudential climate risk contribution capital surcharge to bolster big banks' resilience to the systemic risks they are creating and to require them to bear the future costs their carbon financing activities are placing on the financial system as a whole. The capital surcharge should be calibrated based on the total GHG emissions financed by the institution.

According to the Rainforest Action Network's 2021 Fossil Fuel Finance Report, the six largest U.S. banks have provided roughly \$1.1 trillion in financing for fossil fuel companies since the Paris Agreement was adopted.⁵⁴ Banks that finance fossil fuel companies up and down the supply chain are facilitating increased GHG emissions and intensifying the climate crisis. Worsening the climate crisis exacerbates the physical and transition risks of climate change, driving higher future economic losses that will be borne, in part, by the financial system. Put simply, banks' fossil fuel financing today is placing losses on other financial institutions, the economy, and the public down the line.

In order to bolster big banks' resilience to the systemic risks they are inflating, and to require them to internalize these external costs they are placing on others, banking regulators should implement a macroprudential climate risk contribution capital surcharge. This additional risk-weighted and leverage capital buffer would apply to bank holding companies with more than \$100 billion in assets and nonbank financial companies designated as systemically important by the Financial Stability Oversight Council (FSOC). The climate risk contribution capital surcharge should be calibrated based on a firm's climate risk contribution score, which would use the bank's level of financed GHG emissions as a proxy. The score should include emissions from the banks' investment, underwriting, trading, and off-balance-sheet activities. Regulators have broad authority to set bank capital requirements and could implement this type of requirement without any additional congressional authorization.⁵⁵

The capital surcharge that applies to global systemically important banks (G-SIBs) provides a useful conceptual example of how bank capital requirements can be used to mitigate a financial externality.⁵⁶ The basic formula for the expected losses that a bank places on the financial system and broader economy is a function of the bank's probability of default, or its likelihood of failure, and its loss-given default, or the losses that would be placed on the financial system or economy if it failed. The failure of a large, complex, and interconnected bank would have a much greater negative impact on the financial system and broader economy than the failure of a smaller bank.⁵⁷ Thus, the loss-given default of a larger bank is much higher than that of a smaller bank. Assuming that the probability of default is generally equal, the expected loss of a large systemic bank is therefore higher than that of a small bank. The G-SIB surcharge was designed to bring the expected loss for systemic banks in line with those of smaller banks by lowering their probability of default through raising their capital requirements. When the G-SIB surcharge rule was finalized, former Federal Reserve Chair Janet Yellen stated, "A key purpose of the [G-SIB] capital surcharge is to require the firms themselves to bear the costs that their failure would impose on others."58 The Fed also noted that a related goal of the G-SIB surcharge was to "create incentives for SIFIs [systemically important financial institutions] to shrink their systemic footprint, which further reduces the risks these firms pose to financial stability."59

Increasing capital requirements reduces the probability of a firm's failure, making the tool a natural fit for an externality created by a firm's failure. Opponents to this policy proposal may argue that capital requirements should not be used to mitigate externalities created by a firm's ongoing activities. The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act makes it clear, however, that financial regulators should care about the risks created by a firm's activities, even if potential losses wouldn't be borne by the firm itself, as well as that capital requirements are an appropriate tool to address those risks. Section 171(b)(7) of Dodd-Frank directs banking regulators, subject to an FSOC recommendation, to:⁶⁰

develop capital requirements applicable to insured depository institutions, depository institution holding companies, and nonbank financial companies supervised by the Board of Governors that address the risks that the activities of such institutions pose, not only to the institution engaging in the activity, but to other public and private stakeholders in the event of adverse performance, disruption, or failure of the institution or the activity.

Relatedly, Section 165 of Dodd-Frank directs the Fed to develop macroprudential regulations to "prevent or mitigate risks to the financial stability of the United States that could arise from the material financial distress or failure, *or ongoing activities*, of large, interconnected financial institutions." (emphasis added)

Banks that are major financiers of carbon-intensive activities are facilitating increased GHG emissions and intensifying climate change. Exacerbating the climate crisis will increase both the physical and transition risks of climate change and inflict larger losses on the financial system as a result. With respect to physical risks, higher GHG emissions lead to higher global temperatures, which in turn cause more frequent and severe extreme weather events and damaging environmental changes.⁶¹ The more significant the physical effects of climate change, the more likely and severe the financial system's associated losses will be. Furthermore, increased emissions today drive up projected warming pathways and increase the likelihood that a rapid and disruptive transition is required to stabilize global temperatures.⁶² Using the expected-loss framing, financing emissions is effectively contributing to an increase in the probability of default, and expected loss, of the financial system as a whole. In order to offset the increase in the expected loss for the system, firms that are causing such an increase should have their own probability of default decreased through higher capital requirements. Instead of the G-SIB surcharge's goal of requiring firms to bear the costs that their potential failure places on others, this capital requirement would require firms to bear the costs their GHG emissions financing activities are placing on others. This approach would improve the resilience of the banking system and disincentivize banks from engaging in an activity that propagates systemic risk. If banks want to limit their climate risk contribution capital surcharge, they could simply limit their financed GHG emissions by adjusting their balance sheets or by working with borrowers, counterparties, and clients to lower their emissions.

The G-SIB surcharge is calibrated according to an institution's G-SIB score. The score is calculated using several variables that contribute to a bank's systemic importance—the proxy for a bank's loss-given default. These variables include measures of size, interconnectedness, complexity, cross-border activity, substitutability, and wholesale funding.⁶³ Similarly, the climate risk contribution capital surcharge should be calibrated based on a financial institution's climate risk contribution score—a proxy for the increased probability of default that carbon financing places on the financial system. The climate risk contribution score should be calculated based on the GHG emissions financed by the institution.

Accounting for all of the emissions financed by a financial institution would be a comprehensive way to estimate its climate risk contribution score. Fossil fuel supply is the ultimate source of most GHG emissions, but other industries—including agriculture and chemical and industrial material production—are responsible for a portion of emissions. Deforestation, in particular, is a critical source of emissions that should be factored into this requirement. Moreover, sectors of the economy that rely heavily on fossil fuel combustion for power are driving fossil fuel demand and contributing to climate change as well as climate-related financial risks. Methodologies to estimate financed emissions, including one developed by the Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials (PCAF), are being used by a growing number of banks on a voluntary basis to align their balance sheets with the Paris Agreement.⁶⁴ Regulators should learn from these voluntary methodologies and develop their own to estimate the emissions financed across a bank's investing, underwriting, trading, and off-balance-sheet activities.

It may take some time for regulators to develop these methodologies for a range of asset classes and activities. The voluntary frameworks have yet to roll out approaches that cover the entire balance sheet, but the groups are working expeditiously to address this. Mandatory corporate emissions disclosures implemented by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission would help speed this process along and sharpen the precision of the estimates. Since it is clear that companies along the fossil fuel supply chain are the ultimate source for the bulk of emissions, regulators could pursue this climate risk contribution capital surcharge in two steps. First, the climate risk contribution score could be initially calibrated based on the totality of a covered institution's fossil fuel financing activities. The metrics used to calculate the score would include fossil fuel-related bonds and loans on the bank's balance sheet; the fossil fuel debt, equity, and syndicated loan issuances that the bank underwrites and trades; and fossil fuel-related derivatives transactions and all other forms of off-balance-sheet activities. These metrics should be weighted based on the extent to which the company derives its revenue from fossil fuel-related activities. Second, once developed, regulators could replace the fossil fuel-specific score with a more comprehensive methodology to calculate the entirety of a covered institution's financed GHG emissions.

Banks may argue that the marginal increase in the financial system's probability of default created by today's financed emissions will not materialize for a long time and should not prompt regulators to take immediate action. It is true that emissions financed today may not immediately lead to higher climate-related losses than predicted yesterday. But if regulators ignore risks when they are created because the materialization of potential losses could be long-term, then no regulator would ever seek to mitigate such risks when they are created—leading to a clearly suboptimal policy outcome. Every year of delay means greater risk to the financial system and higher costs for the economy. Mark Carney has referred to this dynamic as the "Tragedy of the Horizon."⁶⁵ Regulators can overcome this dynamic by acknowledging that it is their job to mitigate risks are expected to materialize tomorrow or 10 years from now.

Given that both the climate risk contribution capital surcharge and the transition risk-related capital adjustment outlined in the previous section focus on banks' financing of carbon-intensive exposures, it is worth clarifying how these two approaches complement one another by targeting different risks. The climate risk contribution capital surcharge would be used to target banks' contributions to future climate risk-related losses that stem from financing GHG emissions. Importantly, this capital charge looks beyond just the carbon-intensive exposures held on banks' balance sheets and accounts for the myriad ways banks facilitate the financing of emissions. It is a macroprudential approach that would mitigate systemic risk and is not primarily focused on the microprudential risk to the bank engaging in the financing activity. The goal is to bolster the overall resilience of the system and require banks to internalize the costs they are placing on other financial institutions, the economy, and the public. The transition risk capital adjustment to risk weights, on the other hand, is directed at the increased riskiness of fossil fuel-related assets as a result of the transition to a low-carbon economy. This adjustment to the risk-weighted capital framework seeks to mitigate the effect of the heightened direct losses banks may face due to the decreased ability of fossil fuel companies to meet their financial obligations during the clean energy transition. The primary objective of this microprudential policy is to increase the lossabsorbing capacity of banks directly exposed to these transition risks.

Integrate climate into new and existing stress tests

The problem: Financial regulators, markets, and the public do not have a sufficient understanding of how specific financial institutions, and the financial system as a whole, could fare under a range of severe physical and transition-related shocks. As explained throughout this report, regulators have more than enough information to take strong proactive actions to safeguard against these risks, but additional policy interventions would benefit from a more granular evaluation. In addition, financial institutions themselves are not adequately integrating forward-looking climate risks into their core business and risk decisions.

The solution: The Federal Reserve should establish climate-related stress tests that probe the resiliency of large banks to medium- and long-term physical and transition shocks. As part of this exercise, banks should be required to submit remediation plans outlining how they will adjust their balance sheets over time to avoid severe losses. The Fed should also include near-term climate-related variables in the existing nine-quarter annual stress tests and set supervisory expectations for banks requiring them to integrate climate-related risks into their governance, risk management, internal controls, capital planning, and self-run stress tests.

The Federal Reserve should establish climate-related stress tests for the largest banks in the country.⁶⁶ The stress tests would probe how bank balance sheets would be affected by hypothetical severely adverse climate scenarios over the next 15 to 30 years. The time horizon of the climate-related stress tests should be much longer than the nine-quarter horizon for the annual macroeconomic stress tests in order to allow regulators to probe how the worst effects of climate change could affect bank balance sheets. The scenarios should include both physical and transition risks. Regulators should work with climate scientists, environmental economists, and their international counterparts to develop credible models regarding the financial impact of transition and physical shocks on various asset classes and exposures. This undertaking will not be easy, but it's important to remember the end goal is not to predict the future. The goal is to develop plausible scenarios and models that, while inherently imperfect, will help regulators, markets, and the public assess the climate-related resiliency of regulated institutions. Banks should then be required to submit remediation plans that outline how they plan to adjust their balance sheets and financing activities over time to mitigate their exposure to these severe risks. The plans should include qualitative and quantitative targets for financing activities in the risky climate exposures that drove the bank's stress testing losses, a detailed description of the business and risk strategies the bank will use to hit those targets, and how those targets and strategies also align with the results of internally run stress tests on a range of other potential climate scenarios. Unlike the annual macroeconomic bank stress tests, these tests should not quantitatively set capital requirements. The inherent difficulties in projecting losses over such a lengthy time horizon, particularly those driven by medium- to long-term climate-related risks, make these exercises ill-suited for setting bank-by-bank capital requirements immediately.

Even though the quantitative results of the tests shouldn't directly set capital requirements, it is critical for the stress tests to have teeth and not become a boxchecking exercise of modest value. Regulators should therefore include a qualitative objection component in the climate-related stress tests that is similar to the one used for many years as part of the postcrisis annual macroeconomic stress tests. If the remediation plans are inadequate in scale or granularity, or if banks are not meeting supervisory expectations by failing to sufficiently integrate climate change into their internal controls, governance, risk management, or capital planning processes, the Fed should invoke the qualitative objection and restrict banks' planned capital distributions today. Relatedly, regulators should set clear supervisory expectations for climate-related risks.

Climate-related supervisory expectations

As Fed Governor Lael Brainard stated recently, "Supervisors have a responsibility to ensure that financial institutions are resilient to all material risks—including those related to climate change—both currently and into the future."⁶⁷ It is critical for banks to integrate climate risk into their governance, risk management, internal controls, capital planning, and self-run scenario analyses.

- **Governance:** The board of directors and senior management should clearly assign responsibilities for climate-related risks within the bank's governance structure. This issue requires attention at the highest levels of the bank to ensure that climate-related factors are being appropriately integrated throughout the bank's core business and risk functions.
- **Risk management:** Banks should have the policies and procedures in place to identify, evaluate, report, and mitigate climate-related risks. Both the physical and transition-related risks associated with climate change pose serious credit, market, liquidity, reputational, and operational risks for many banks. It is vital for banks to account for all of these risks in their core risk management frameworks.
- Internal controls: It is important for banks to have the policies and procedures in place to effectively monitor the integration of climate-related factors into core risk and business functions. Strong internal controls can help the bank evaluate the effectiveness of climate-related risk management, governance, capital planning, model use, compliance, audits, and other functions, as well as address any clear deficiencies in a timely manner.
- **Capital planning:** As part of the normal capital planning process, in which banks evaluate their capital needs and determine how to manage their capital resources, banks should take climate-related risks into account.
- Scenario analyses: While the Fed should establish supervisory stress tests, banks should be expected to conduct their own company-run stress tests and scenario analyses. The Fed will only use a handful of the thousands of potential climate-related scenarios that could play out. It's important for banks to think through and attempt to model a wide range of potential scenarios.

The European Central Bank, Bank of England, Network for Greening the Financial System, and others have implemented or released draft supervisory guidance around climate-related risks. To its credit, the Federal Reserve recently established a Supervision Climate Committee (SCC) to analyze and mitigate climate-related risks to supervised firms. It is critical for the Fed's SCC to work with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency to quickly develop and issue supervisory guidance around climate-related risks. U.S. banking regulators should also seek to learn from international peers that have already promulgated and begun implementing climate-related supervisory guidance. As part of this effort, banking regulators must invest in building up internal climate capacity and make sure examiners are thoroughly trained to ensure these institutions are operating in a safe and sound manner with respect to these risks. Vigorously integrating climate risk into ongoing supervision will complement the creation of new climate-related regulations and ensure that banks are appropriately centering climate considerations in core decision-making functions. Regulators should also integrate these expectations into supervisory ratings frameworks.

Banks have pushed back against the creation of climate-related stress tests.⁶⁸ They have argued that there is significant uncertainty around climate-related shocks and their effects and that they would be tough to model. It is true that there is substantial inherent uncertainty around climate-related risks and potential warming and transition pathways. But again, stress tests are not designed to predict the future. They are used to test bank balance sheets against extreme, but plausible, scenarios. That's a threshold the Fed should be able to meet. There are certainly data, modeling, and scenario decisions that the Fed will have to weigh carefully. Those challenges are by no means insurmountable given the purpose and role of stress testing. Moreover, banks have lamented the long time horizon of the scenarios as it relates to assumptions regarding bank balance sheets. It is certainly true that a bank's balance sheet could look very different in 2045 than it does in 2021. Stressing a bank's 2021 balance sheet against longer-term risks, however, demonstrates just how significantly a bank may have to adjust its balance sheet over time to avoid catastrophic climate-related losses. The Fed could then ensure banks are, in fact, adjusting their balance sheets over time to avoid these long-term risks.

The arguments banks are making against climate-related stress tests rhyme with the arguments they deployed against the initial stress tests in 2009, the Supervisory Capital Assessment Program, and the annual macroeconomic tests that were developed in the wake of the crisis, the Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review (CCAR).⁶⁹ For 12 years, banks have fought tooth and nail with the Fed over what constitutes appropriate or realistic scenarios, models, and assumptions. One particular example is instructive. In CCAR, the Fed included an assumption that bank balance sheets would grow during the stress testing time horizon. This was a prudent assumption, since regulators want banks to be capitalized enough to serve as a source of strength during a downturn and historical evidence suggested that there would be pressure on bank balance sheets to expand as businesses and households sought liquidity. While it may be prudent from a microprudential standpoint to assume banks could keep a static balance sheet or shrink to conserve capital during a stress period, that would lead to a severe contraction in credit if a range of banks all took that approach. After years of pressure from banks, the Fed relented and watered down the balance sheet growth assumption and changed it to assume a flat balance sheet.⁷⁰ Then, in early 2020, the global financial system experienced a real-life stress test due to the COVID-19 shock and bank balance sheets grew significantly.⁷¹ Banks were not pushing the Fed to adopt a flat balance sheet because it was more realistic or grounded in historical evidence. They did so because a flat balance sheet assumption weakened the stress tests by reducing required capital. Similarly, when it comes to climaterelated stress tests, banks will continue to advance arguments that seek to reduce the severity of projected losses or the procedural consequences of the stress tests. Regulators must see the arguments for what they are.

The climate-related stress tests would provide transparency regarding banks' climate risk exposure, force banks to embed climate risk into their core business and risk functions, and require them to provide regulators with actionable plans to adjust their balance sheets over time to limit climate-related risks.

Conducting several iterations of the climate-specific longer-term stress tests should improve regulators' understanding of climate-related variables, scenario design, and modeling. Ultimately, climate-related variables and near-term shocks should be introduced into the severely adverse scenario of the nine-quarter annual macroeconomic stress tests. While the worst effects of climate change will mate-rialize over the medium to long term, physical risks and certainly transition risks could increase banking sector losses in the not-too-distant future. The annual stress tests directly feed into banks' capital requirements, as regulators use both static and dynamic tools to ensure capital adequacy.⁷² Adding climate variables and shocks to these tests would further integrate climate considerations into all facets of the bank capital framework and promote the resiliency of the banking system in the face of severe oncoming climate-related risks.

Tackle additional transition risks and physical risks

The problem: The transition to a low-carbon economy could pose material risks to a range of carbon-intensive financial assets, beyond just those directly tied to the fossil fuel sector. Additionally, the increase in frequency and severity of extreme weather events and the progression of long-term environmental shifts could impair the value of a wide array of real assets and financial assets. Losses driven by these physical and transition-related risks could threaten the safety and soundness of the banks exposed to them.

The solution: Regulators should use the information gleaned from climate-related stress tests, corporate climate risk disclosures, and engagement with climate scientists and environmental economists to adjust capital risk weights for assets exposed to serious transition risks and physical risks. The improved data and modeling will help regulators calibrate risk weights to reflect these more nuanced risks.

The first two policy recommendations target the risks posed by carbon-intensive financing activities because they are the most urgent risks to address and the policies could be implemented relatively quickly. It doesn't take substantial complex data and modeling efforts to conclude that increased greenhouse gas emissions will lead to higher climate-related losses in the future and that under various transition scenarios, a significant portion of fossil fuel assets will become fully or partially stranded. While some further analysis and debate is certainly warranted regarding the exact structure and design of the proposed capital changes, these are cautious financial stability policies that need not take five years to develop. The potential costs of inaction appear to be significantly higher than the risks of swift and robust action, as these risks are set to metastasize over time and the cost of dealing with them will only increase.

There are, however, prudent and worthwhile capital-related policies that require significant additional data collection and analysis to design appropriately. First, the banking regulators should use the information gleaned from enhanced corporate climate risk disclosure and climate-related stress testing to make additional transition risk adjustments to the risk-weighted capital framework. Financial instruments tied to other carbon-intensive sectors are susceptible to transition risks to varying degrees, including the utility, transportation, chemical and metal production, mining, and agricultural sectors.⁷³ Adjusting risk weights for these exposures could help bolster the resilience of banks, but regulators need not wait to sort through these more nuanced risk profiles before acting on various fossil fuel exposures, as outlined above.

In addition, regulators could use stress testing and engagement with climate scientists and environmental economists to improve modeling approaches regarding the physical risks of climate change. Regulators need more granular data, including geospatial data, to better map the physical effects of climate change onto banks' financial exposures. It's clear that physical risks could inflict substantial losses on a wide range of financial assets. The impact of sea-level rise; increasing global temperatures; and more frequent and severe floods, droughts, wildfires, and other natural disasters could drive up losses for insurance companies, banks, and other market participants invested in exposed assets.⁷⁴ These risks threaten to reduce the value of a range of real assets and financial instruments tied to commercial and residential real estate, agricultural lending, commercial and industrial lending, corporate and municipal bonds, and commodities. Physical risks can impair physical property, disrupt supply chains, limit economic activity, increase financial uncertainty, and strain profitability, which reduce real-estate and commodity values, lower equity prices, and limit the ability of borrowers to repay debt.75 They can also directly damage and reduce the value of collateral that secures credit extended in some of these markets. In addition to the credit and market risks posed by the physical effects of climate change, the effects threaten to significantly increase claims for an array of property and casualty insurance business lines.

Severe weather events have already caused \$106 billion in damage per year, on average, over the past five years, significantly higher than the 1980–2019 average of \$43.9 billion.⁷⁶ Seventy percent of weather-related losses worldwide are not insured, and that figure could increase as insurers potentially pull out of certain geographies and business lines.⁷⁷ Based on the projected intensification of these events, they could trigger trillions of dollars in losses for financial institutions and investors exposed to these markets in the coming years and decades.⁷⁸ Under severe warming scenarios, the physical impacts of climate change could drive at least \$2 trillion in losses to gross domestic product annually (in today's dollars) by 2100—loosely speaking, the economic equivalent of the 2008 financial crisis every five years.⁷⁹ Even if policymakers are successful in limiting warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius above preindustrial levels, extreme weather events will be substan-

tially more severe and frequent than they are today, and long-term environmental shifts will continue to progress. Today, the world has warmed about 1 degree Celsius above preindustrial levels, and the destructive impacts are clear.⁸⁰ Another 50 percent increase in warming will meaningfully exacerbate the physical impacts of climate change—and that's under the best-case scenario.

The risks weights for assets most exposed to these physical risks should also be adjusted upward to bolster the resilience of the banking system. Some commentators have argued that adjusting risk weights may not be necessary, since banks' underwriting processes can be trusted to appropriately account for these risks.⁸¹ There is significant evidence that banks are not sufficiently accounting for the physical risks of climate change, and regulators should not simply trust that banks will do so over time.⁸² As mentioned previously, just because a risk is priced in does not mean the institution is resilient to tail risk, which should be the goal of regulators. The physical effects of climate change will vary under different emissions pathways and are inherently uncertain. In addition, other commentators have noted that physical risks do not warrant heightened attention because banks, insurance companies, and other financial firms have already faced severe weather events over the past few decades and no such events have caused major financial stability issues.⁸³ The key characteristic of extreme weather events and lasting environmental changes is that they are increasing in frequency and severity, often in a nonlinear fashion. Past resilience to natural disasters does not predict future resilience to climate-driven physical shocks.

Follow climate risks into the shadow banking sector

The problem: Implementing strong climate-related capital rules for banks could raise the costs of certain risky financing activities and push them outside the core banking system. Shadow banking firms, such as hedge funds and private equity companies, could pick up the slack and increase funding for climate-risky ventures as banks reduce their exposure to those markets. Instead of sufficiently mitigating climate-related risks, this migration could shift some of these financial stability risks from one part of the system to another.

The solution: Regulators should mitigate climate-related risks in the financial system, wherever they may live. Regulators have a suite of tools that they could use to ensure the shadow banking system is resilient to climate-related risks, including the Financial Stability Oversight Council's designations of nonbank systemically important financial institutions as well as the capital markets authorities at the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC). In addition, the banking regulators could use prudential tools to limit banks' ability to facilitate the migration of these risks to the shadow banking sector, since the shadow banking sector relies heavily on financial support from the banking system.

Higher bank capital requirements for climate risk-related exposures and activities would increase the cost of bank financing for certain borrowers, most notably fossil fuel companies. Due to the tax treatment of debt, equity capital is a more expensive source of funding for financial institutions.⁸⁴ Higher equity, however, comes with significant social benefits, as it reduces the likelihood of financial sector distress.⁸⁵ One reasonable critique of this proposal is that it will simply push certain financing activity outside the traditional regulated banking sector. Instead of borrowing from a bank, a fossil fuel company may simply turn to capital markets by issuing bonds or other instruments funded by hedge funds, private equity funds, high-yield mutual funds, insurance companies, structured investment vehicles, and other entities looking for yield. Proponents of this critique may use the argument as a cudgel to push back against such regulations. This critique, however, ignores the ultimate effect on borrowing costs for companies that migrate to nonbank financing and underestimates the likelihood that these capital requirements would cause banks to work with their clients to limit emissions. Moreover, there is a more appropriate policy solution to address the potential migration of this financing activity from the banking sector to the shadow banking sector. The potential migration effect does not justify inaction.

First, the alternative funding sources would come at a higher cost to the borrower relative to current bank funding sources. These higher costs would limit the extent to which fossil fuel companies could reasonably borrow. Raising the borrowing costs of fossil fuel companies is not the primary aim of these policies, but it is an appropriate consequence given the costs that fossil fuel activities are placing on the economy and the planet. Second, the policies outlined above are designed, in part, to mitigate transition-related risks and align the banking system with a decarbonized economy. The structure of these policies will incentivize banks to work with their clients to limit their emissions and transition risk. It doesn't necessarily mean banks will immediately dump every high-carbon client. But over time, if those high-carbon clients are not decarbonizing, the capital requirements will indeed become more stringent to reflect the build-up of transition risk and/or the contribution to climate-related risks. Third, the shadow banking system is deeply intertwined with the traditional banking sector.⁸⁶ The design and implementation of the policies mentioned in this report should factor in that reality and seek to limit banks' ability to facilitate the migration of climate-risky financing activities to the shadow banking sector. For example, regulators could tighten capital requirements for loans, guarantees, or other support provided to nonbank financial firms and vehicles that are engaged in climate-risky activities.

Finally, and most importantly, regulators should work to mitigate risks to the financial system wherever they exist. A potential migration of risk from one part of the financial system to the other is an argument for expanding regulatory oversight, not for refraining from regulating the risk in the first place. It is important to understand how risks can reorient and adapt to avoid the regulatory framework, and then it is incumbent on regulators to ensure those risks are addressed wherever they may land. Climate risks do not discriminate based on a financial institution's corporate charter or regulator. Regulators should use the tools at their disposal to improve the climate resilience of, and limit the future financial harm caused by, nonbank financial companies. For example, the FSOC should integrate climate risk analysis into its process for subjecting systemically important nonbank financial companies to enhanced oversight and regulation by the Federal Reserve.⁸⁷ As a general matter, designated nonbank financial companies should be subjected to these climate-related capital requirements. The FSOC should also identify and recommend policies that nonbank financial regulators, such as the SEC and the CFTC, should take to integrate climate risk into their own regulatory and supervisory frameworks. In particular, the SEC and the CFTC could integrate climate risk into margin and haircut requirements for certain transactions exposed to climate-related risks, as well as into capital requirements for broker-dealers, swaps dealers, future commission merchants, and other firms under their jurisdiction.⁸⁸

While the FSOC has the authority to require prudential regulation for systemically important shadow banks, it should seek additional statutory authority to directly regulate systemically important activities in the nonbank financial sector more broadly.⁸⁹ That additional authority could be used to target climate risk, regardless of the type or size of the financial institution engaging in the risky activity, and would complement existing authority at primary regulators.

Address risk now and consider green opportunity later

These policy recommendations all revolve around increasing bank capital requirements to mitigate various climate-related risks to the financial system. It is worth addressing the second half of the climate-bank capital debate that has evolved internationally—the treatment of green assets in the capital framework.⁹⁰ In addition to raising risk weights for dirty assets or assets otherwise exposed to climate risks, some have argued that current risk weights for green assets should be lowered to incentivize green investment.⁹¹ The primary purpose of a bank capital requirement should be to safeguard against risk, not to incentivize certain investments. There is no evidence to suggest that green projects are less risky than other corporate exposures.⁹² Lowering prudential regulatory requirements for exposures that are not less risky would undermine the safety and soundness of financial institutions and could pose financial stability risks. Other financial regulatory tools, such as the Community Reinvestment Act, are better suited to drive green investment directly.⁹³ Moreover, there is a critical role for public investment and well-designed publicprivate partnerships to play in closing the green financing gap.⁹⁴

It's also worth reiterating that raising the cost of borrowing for dirty investments to better reflect their riskiness does lower the relative cost of funding for green assets and will indirectly drive green investment, even if that is not the primary goal. One possible exception to this principle is a class of investments that proactively remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere, such as natural climate solutions or direct air capture projects.⁹⁵ Sustaining net-negative global emissions will be necessary for stabilizing global warming, according to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.⁹⁶ Regulators should be open to arguments that certain exposures to negative emission projects, if their effectiveness is reliably demonstrated over the long term without creating other harms, can materially reduce the physical risks of climate change and warrant more favorable treatment under the capital framework. Such investments would create a positive externality, as these projects would lower potential physical risk-related losses for the financial system as a whole.

Conclusion

It is critical for financial regulators to aggressively mitigate the risks that climate change poses to the financial system. Regulators would be neglecting their mandates and statutory obligations if they choose to ignore these risks and let them fester. While there are a range of policy tools that should be utilized to safeguard the financial system from climate-related risks, the capital framework is a core element of banking regulation and should be a cornerstone of these efforts.

The effects of climate change are already apparent, but the worst projected impacts fall outside the typical decision window of policymakers. A former Governor of the Bank of England, Mark Carney, has referred to this dilemma as the "Tragedy of the Horizon."⁹⁷ It is critical for financial regulators to overcome this dynamic by understanding that financial institutions' contributions to the climate crisis today affect the losses that the financial system, economy, and public will face down the line—in some cases irreversibly. Restricting those risk-inducing activities should be an immediate priority of regulators. In addition, physical and transition risks are intensifying. These are not risks that financial regulators can wait decades to address. Swiftly embedding climate considerations into financial regulatory and supervisory frameworks will ensure the financial system is resilient to these immense risks.

Integrating climate risk into various elements of the capital framework will go a long way toward mitigating climate-related risks and ensuring the economy is safeguarded from a climate-driven financial crisis. These policies would increase the capacity of the financial system to absorb climate-driven losses and continue to provide the financial services that the economy needs to thrive. This effort would also position the financial system to serve as a source of strength to the economy during this period of decarbonization and would return the United States to a position of leadership on the world stage. While there are a series of steps regulators could take to accomplish these goals within the capital framework, a range of complementary financial regulatory tools should also be deployed. It is critical for regulators to thoroughly embed climate considerations throughout the financial regulatory framework. These climate risks are complex, but regulators need not spend the next decade studying them before taking action. Given the high probability of climate change and the potential magnitude of financial losses, regulators should exhibit a precautionary approach and act decisively. The most troubling risks on this front are on the side of inaction.

About the author

Gregg Gelzinis is an associate director for Economic Policy at the Center for American Progress. Gelzinis' work focuses primarily on financial institutions, financial markets, and consumer finance policy. His analyses has been quoted in *The New York Times, The Washington Post, The Wall Street Journal*, and other publications. Gelzinis has also testified before the U.S. Congress.

Before joining the Center in 2016, Gelzinis completed a graduate school fellowship at the U.S. Department of the Treasury in the Office of Financial Institutions. During his undergraduate career, he held internships at Swiss Re, the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta, and in the office of Sen. Jack Reed (D-RI). Gelzinis graduated summa cum laude from Georgetown University, where he received a bachelor's degree in government and a master's degree in American government, and was elected to the Phi Beta Kappa Society. He is a Massachusetts native and a die-hard Boston sports fan.

Endnotes

- 1 Michael S. Derby, "Central Bank Leaders Embrace Climate Concern as Key Policy Objective," The Wall Street Journal, November 12, 2020, available at https://www.wsj.com/ articles/central-bank-leaders-embrace-climate-concernsas-key-policy-objective-11605225151; Jeff Cox, "The Fed is set to take on a new challenge: Climate change," CNBC, November 12, 2020, available at https://www. cnbc.com/2020/11/12/the-fed-is-set-to-take-on-a-newchallenge-climate-change.html; Victoria Guida, "Q&A: FDIC Chairman Jelena McWilliams," Politico Pro, March 8, 2021, on file with the author; Federal Housing Finance Agency, "FHFA Issues RFI on Climate and Natural Disaster Risk Management at the Regulated Entities," Press release, January 19, 2021, available at https://www.fhfa.gov/Media/PublicAffairs/Pages/FHFA-Issues-RFI-on-Climate-and-Natural-Disaster-Risk-Management-at-the-Regulated-Entities.aspx.
- 2 Lael Brainard, "Financial Stability Report: Statement by Governor Lael Brainard," Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, available at https://www.federalreserve. gov/publications/brainard-comment-20201109.htm (last accessed April 2021).
- 3 Alexandra Thornton and Andy Green, "The SEC's Time To Act" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2021), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ economy/reports/2021/02/19/496015/secs-time-act/.
- 4 Office of Sen. Jeff Merkley, "Merkley Introduces Pair of Bills to Protect American Lives and Livelihoods from Climate Chaos," Press release, October 21, 2020, available at https:// www.merkley.senate.gov/news/press-releases/merkleyintroduces-pair-of-bills-to-protect-american-lives-andlivelihoods-from-climate-chaos-2020.
- 5 See for example, Section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, Public Law 203, 111th Cong., 2d sess. (July 21, 2010), available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/111th-congress/housebill/4173/text; 12 U.S.C. Chapter 40.
- 6 Bank of England, "Climate change: what are the risks to financial stability?", available at https://www.bankofengland. co.uk/knowledgebank/climate-change-what-are-the-risksto-financial-stability (last accessed April 2021).
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Tobias Adrian and others, "Financial Stability Monitoring" (New York: Federal Reserve Bank of New York, 2014), available at https://www.newyorkfed.org/medialibrary/media/ research/staff_reports/sr601.pdf.
- 9 Celso Brunetti and others, "FEDS Notes: Climate Change and Financial Stability," Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, March 19, 2021, available at https://www. federalreserve.gov/econres/notes/feds-notes/climatechange-and-financial-stability-20210319.htm.
- 10 Ibid.
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 Adrian and others, "Financial Stability Monitoring."
- 13 Hilary J. Allen, "A New Philosophy for Financial Stability Regulation," *Loyola University Chicago Law Journal* 45 (2) (2013): 173–231, available at https://lawecommons.luc. edu/luclj/vol45/iss1/4/.
- 14 Saule T. Omarova, "License to Deal: Mandatory Approval of Complex Financial Products," Washington University Law Review 90 (1) (2012): 63–140, available at https://scholarship.law.cornell.edu/facpub/1011/.

- 15 Hugues Chenet and others, "Finance, climate-change and radical uncertainty: Towards a precautionary approach to financial policy," *Ecological Economics* 183 (2021), available at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S092180092100015X?via%3Dihub.
- 16 Jay Cullen, "After 'HLEG': EU Banks, Climate Change Abatement and the Precautionary Principle," *Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies* 20 (2018): 61–87, available at https://poseidon01.ssrn.com/delivery.php?ID=9981050 06000066123067109123099110121053040051018055 094125101013098095100071066121123041031008002 04204304409508711902912502309002501002100603 1093092026116106aafdafaadfdafa0821230640840101200 9512000002105019127111094125025018015096118089 080102088120064064119090101&EXT=pdf&INDEX=TRUE.
- 17 Chenet and others, "Finance, climate-change and radical uncertainty."
- 18 Lael Brainard, "The Role of Financial Institutions in Tackling the Challenges of Climate Change," Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, February 18, 2021, available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/speech/ brainard20210218a.htm.
- 19 Christin Parajon Skinner, "Central Banks and Climate Change," Vanderbilt Law Review 75 (forthcoming 2021), available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers. cfm?abstract id=3703142.
- 20 Derby, "Central Bank Leaders Embrace Climate Concern as Key Policy Objective"; Lael Brainard, "Strengthening the Financial System to Meet the Challenge of Climate Change," Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, December 18, 2020, available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/ newsevents/speech/brainard20201218a.htm.
- 21 Climate-Related Market Risk Subcommittee, "Managing Climate Risk in the U.S. Financial System" (Washington: Commodity Futures Trading Commission, 2020), available at https://www.cftc.gov/sites/default/ files/2020-09/9-9-20%20Report%20of%20the%20Subcommittee%20on%20Climate-Related%20Market%20Risk%20 -%20Managing%20Climate%20Risk%20in%20the%20 U.S.%20Financial%20System%20for%20posting.pdf.
- 22 Network for Greening the Financial System, "Joint statement by the Founding Members of the Central Banks and Supervisors Network for Greening the Financial System One Planet Summit," Press release, December 12, 2017, available at https://www.ngfs.net/en/communique-depresse/joint-statement-founding-members-central-banks-and-supervisors-network-greening-financial-system-one-0.
- 23 Network for Greening the Financial System, "Membership," available at https://www.ngfs.net/en/about-us/membership (last accessed April 2021).
- 24 Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Federal Reserve Board announces it has formally joined the Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System, or NGFS, as a member," Press release, December 15, 2020, available at https://www.federalreserve. gov/newsevents/pressreleases/bcreg20201215a.htm.
- 25 Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, "OCC Finalizes Rule Requiring Large Banks to Provide Fair Access to Bank Services, Capital, and Credit," Press release, January 14, 2021, available at https://www.occ.gov/news-issuances/ news-releases/2021/nr-occ-2021-8.html; Eugene Scalia, "Retirees' Security Trumps Other Social Goals," *The Wall Street Journal*, June 23, 2020, available at https://www. wsj.com/articles/retirees-security-trumps-other-social goals-11592953329.

- 26 Tyler Gellasch and Alexandra Thornton, "Modernizing the Social Contract With Investment Fiduciaries" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2020), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/ reports/2020/11/18/492982/modernizing-social-contractinvestment-fiduciaries/; Thornton and Green, "The SEC's Time To Act"; Gregg Gelzinis and Graham Steele, "Climate Change Threatens the Stability of the Financial System" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ economy/reports/2019/11/21/477190/climate-changethreatens-stability-financial-system/; Graham Steele, "A Regulatory Green Light: How Dodd-Frank Can Address Wall Street's Role in the Climate Crisis" (Washington: The Great Democracy Initiative, 2020), available at https:// greatdemocracyinitiative.org/document/dodd-frank-andthe-climate-crisis/; Veena Ramani and others, "Addressing Climate as a Systemic Risk" (Boston: Ceres, 2020), available at https://www.ceres.org/resources/reports/addressingclimate-systemic-risk.
- 27 U.N. Framework Convention on Climate Change, "The Paris Agreement," available at https://unfccc.int/process-andmeetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement (last accessed April 2021).
- 28 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "Special Report: Global Warming of 1.5 °Celsius" (Geneva: 2018), available at https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 Ibid.
- 31 U.S. Energy Information Administration, "U.S. energy facts, explained," available at https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/us-energy-facts/ (last accessed April 2021).
- 32 Dan Murphy, "Renewables chief hails 'crucial' Biden climate agenda as administration plans massive energy overhaul," CNBC, January 25, 2021, available at https://www.cnbc. com/2021/01/25/renewable-energy-chief-hails-crucialbiden-climate-change-plans-.html.
- 33 Financial Stability Board, "The Implications of Climate Change for Financial Stability" (Basel, Switzerland: 2020), available at https://www.fsb.org/wp-content/uploads/ P231120.pdf.
- 34 Patrick Bolton and others, "The green swan" (Basel, Switzerland: Bank for International Settlements, 2020), available at https://www.bis.org/publ/othp31.pdf; Christophe McGlade and Paul Ekins, "The geographical distribution of fossil fuels unused when limiting global warming to 2 °C," *Nature* 517 (2015), available at https://www.nature.com/ articles/nature14016.
- 35 Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, "Comptroller's Handbook: Oil and Gas Exploration and Production Lending" (Washington: U.S. Department of the Treasury, 2018), available at https://www.occ.treas.gov/publications-andresources/publications/comptrollers-handbook/files/oilgas-exploration-prod-lending/index-oil-gas-explorationproduction-lending.html.
- 36 Laura Hurst, "Stranded Assets' Risk Rising With Climate Action and \$40 Oil," Bloomberg, August 11, 2020, available at https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-08-11/ why-climate-action-40-oil-create-stranded-assetsquicktake?sref=S5RPfkRP; Ron Bousso, "BP wipes up to \$17.5 billion from assets with bleaker oil outlook," Reuters, June 15, 2020, available at https://www.reuters.com/ article/us-bp-writeoffs/bp-wipes-up-to-17-5-billion-fromassets-with-bleaker-oil-outlook-idUSKBN23M0QA.
- 37 Carbon Tracker, "The Flip Side: Stranded Assets and Stranded Liabilities," February 19, 2020, available at https:// carbontracker.org/reports/the-flip-side-stranded-assetsand-stranded-liabilities/.

- 39 Matt McGrath, "Carbon 'bubble' could cost global economy trillions," BBC, June 5, 2018, available at https://www.bbc. com/news/science-environment-44357243.
- 40 International Renewable Energy Agency, "Stranded Assets and Renewables: How the energy transition affects the value of energy reserves, buildings, and capital stock" (Abu Dhabi: 2017), available at https://www.irena.org/-/media/ Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2017/Jul/IRENA_REmap_ Stranded_assets_and_renewables_2017.pdf.
- 41 Rosetta Dollman and others, "Low-Carbon Transitions and Systemic Risk" (London: Vivid Economics, 2020), available at https://www.vivideconomics.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Low-Carbon-Transitions-and-Systemic-Risk-Final-1.pdf; Network for Greening the Financial System, "Technical supplement to the First NGFS Comprehensive Report" (Paris: 2019), available at https://www.ngfs.net/en/ technical-supplement-first-ngfs-comprehensive-report; Climate-Related Market Risk Subcommittee, "Managing Climate Risk in the U.S. Financial System," Press release, September 9, 2020, available at https://www.cftc.gov/ PressRoom/PressReleases/8234-20; Bolton and others, "The green swan."
- 42 Chenet and others, "Finance, climate-change and radical uncertainty."
- 43 Mark Carney, "Breaking the tragedy of the horizon climate change and financial stability: Speech at Lloyd's of London," Bank of England, September 29, 2015, available at https://www.bis.org/review/r151009a.htm.
- 44 Bloomberg, "Climate change and artificial intelligence seen as risks to investment asset allocation, finds new report by BNY Mellon Investment," Press release, September 16, 2019, available at https://www.bloomberg.com/ press-releases/2019-09-16/climate-change-and-artificialintelligence-seen-as-risks-to-investment-asset-allocationfinds-new-report-by-bny-mellon-investm.
- 45 Felix Suntheim and Jerome Vandenbussche, "Equity Investors Must Pay More Attention to Climate Change Physical Risk," IMFBlog, May 29, 2020, available at https://blogs.imf. org/2020/05/29/equity-investors-must-pay-more-attention-to-climate-change-physical-risk/. See, for example, De Nederlandsche Bank, "An energy transition risk stress test for the financial system of the Netherlands" (Amsterdam: 2018), available at https://www.dnb.nl/media/pdnpdalc/201810_nr-_7_-2018-_an_energy_transition_risk_ stress_test_for_the_financial_system_of_the_netherlands. pdf; Irene Monasterolo, "Assessing climate risks in investors' portfolios: a journey through climate stress-testing," U.N. Principles for Responsible Investment, March 2, 2020, available at https://www.unpri.org/pri-blog/assessing-climaterisks-in-investors-portfolios-a-journey-through-climatestress-testing/5526.article.
- 46 Madison Condon, "Market Myopia's Climate Bubble," Boston University School of Law (forthcoming 2021), available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_ id=3782675.
- 47 Mercer, "Investing in a Time of Climate Change: The Sequel 2019" (Washington: 2019), available at https:// www.mercer.com/content/dam/mercer/attachments/ private/nurture-cycle/gl-2019-wealth-climate-change-thesequel-full-report.pdf; B.D. Hong and E. R. Slatick, "Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors for Coal," U.S. Energy Information Administration, 1994, available at https://www.eia.gov/ coal/production/quarterly/co2_article/co2.html.
- 48 Thierry Philipponnat, "Breaking the climate-finance doom loop" (Brussels: Finance Watch, 2020), available at https:// www.finance-watch.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/ Breaking-the-climate-finance-doom-loop_Finance-Watchreport.pdf.

38 Ibid.

- 49 Banks with more than \$250 billion in assets, or at least \$10 billion in on-balance-sheet foreign exposure, also calculate their risk-weighted capital requirements under the advanced approaches framework, which allows for banks to use internal models to gauge the riskiness of their assets. Banks must meet the more stringent capital level required after calculating their risk-weighted requirements under both the standardized and advanced approaches. For more information, see Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Advanced Approaches Capital Framework Implementation," available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/basel/advanced-approaches-capital-framework-implementation.htm (last accessed April 2021).
- 50 Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Regulatory Capital Rules: Regulatory Capital, Implementation of Basel III, Capital Adequacy, Transition Provisions, Prompt Corrective Action, Standardized Approach for Risk-weighted Assets, Market Discipline and Disclosure Requirements, Advanced Approaches Risk-Based Capital Rule, and Market Risk Capital Rule," *Federal Register* 78 (198) (2013): 62018–62291, available at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2013-10-11/pdf/2013-21653.pdf.
- 51 Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Regulations Q and Y; Risk-Based Capital and Other Regulatory Requirements for Activities of Financial Holding Companies Related to Physical Commodities and Risk-Based Capital Requirements for Merchant Banking Investments," *Federal Register* 81 (190) (2016): 67220–67239, available at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2016-09-30/pdf/2016-23349.pdf.
- 52 Ibid.
- 53 Ibid.
- 54 Rainforest Action Network, "Banking on Climate Chaos: Fossil Fuel Finance Report 2021" (San Francisco: 2021), available at https://www.ran.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Banking-on-Climate-Chaos-2021.pdf.
- 55 See, for example, Section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010; U.S.C. Chapter 40.
- 56 Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Federal Reserve Board approves final rule requiring the largest, most systemically important U.S. bank holding companies to further strengthen their capital positions," Press release, July 20, 2015, available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/ newsevents/pressreleases/bcreg20150720a.htm.
- 57 Amy G. Lorenc and Jeffrey Zhang, "The Differential Impact of Bank Size on Systemic Risk" (Washington: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 2018), available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/econres/feds/ files/2018066pap.pdf.
- 58 Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Federal Reserve Board approves final rule requiring the largest, most systemically important U.S. bank holding companies to further strengthen their capital positions."
- 59 Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Calibrating the GSIB Surcharge," July 20, 2015, available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/publications/2015calibrating-thegsib-surcharge-introduction.htm.
- 60 Section 171(b)(7) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010.
- 61 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "Special Report: Global Warming of 1.5 °Celsius, Chapter 3—Impacts of 1.5°C on natural and human systems" (Geneva: 2018), available at https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/chapter-3/.

- 62 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "Special Report: Global Warming of 1.5 °Celsius, Chapter 4—Strengthening and implementing the global response" (Geneva: 2018), available at https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/chapter-4/.
- 63 Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Federal Reserve Board approves final rule requiring the largest, most systemically important U.S. bank holding companies to further strengthen their capital positions."
- 64 Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials, "About," available at https://carbonaccountingfinancials.com/ about (last accessed April 2021); Citigroup, "Citi Announces New Five-Year Sustainable Progress Strategy to Finance Climate Solutions and Reduce Climate Risk," Press release, July 29, 2020, available at https://www.citigroup.com/citi/ news/2020/200729a.htm; Morgan Stanley, "Morgan Stanley Joins Leadership of Global Carbon Accounting Partnership," Press release, July 20, 2020, available at https://www. morganstanley.com/press-releases/morgan-stanley-joinsleadership-of-global-carbon-accounting-part; Bank of America, "Bank of America Largest U.S. Financial Institution to Join The Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials and Its Core Team," Press release, July 29, 2020, available at https://newsroom.bankofamerica.com/press-releases/environment/bank-america-largest-us-financial-institutionjoin-partnership-carbon.
- 65 Carney, "Breaking the tragedy of the horizon climate change and financial stability: Speech at Lloyd's of London."
- 66 Office of Sen. Brian Schatz, "Schatz introduces new legislation to ensure U.S. financial system is prepared for climate change," Press release, November 20, 2019, available at https://www.schatz.senate.gov/press-releases/schatzintroduces-new-legislation-to-ensure-us-financial-systemis-prepared-for-climate-change.
- 67 Brainard, "The Role of Financial Institutions in Tackling the Challenges of Climate Change."
- 68 Francisco Covas, "Challenges in Stress Testing and Climate Change," Bank Policy Institute, October 19, 2020, available at https://bpi.com/challenges-in-stress-testing-andclimate-change/.
- 69 Brett Waxman, Francisco Covas, and Robert Lindgren, "The Fed Increases Large Banks' Capital Requirements," Bank Policy Institute, June 29, 2018, available at https://bpi.com/ the-fed-increases-large-banks-capital-requirements/; Gregory Baer, "Letter Re: Stress Testing Transparency proposals," The Clearing House, January 22, 2018, available at https:// www.federalreserve.gov/SECRS/2018/January/20180130/ OP-1588/OP-1587_012218_131945_561382171941_1.pdf.
- 70 Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Federal Reserve Board approves rule to simplify its capital rules for large banks, preserving the strong capital requirements already in place," Press release, March 4, 2020, available at https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/pressreleases/bcreg20200304a.htm.
- 71 Jeremy Kress, "Big banks are growing due to coronavirus — that's an ominous sign," *The Hill*, May 1, 2020, available at https://thehill.com/opinion/finance/495719-big-banksare-growing-due-to-coronavirus-thats-an-ominoussign?rnd=1588363588#.
- 72 Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, "Federal Reserve Board approves rule to simplify its capital rules for large banks, preserving the strong capital requirements already in place."

- 73 Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, "Implementing the Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures" (Basel, Switzerland: 2017), available at https://assets.bbhub.io/company/ sites/60/2020/10/FINAL-TCFD-Annex-Amended-121517. pdf; Mercer, "Investing in a Time of Climate Change: The Sequel 2019."
- 74 Network for Greening the Financial System, "A call for action: Climate change as a source of financial risk" (Paris: 2019), available at https://www.banque-france.fr/sites/ default/files/media/2019/04/17/ngfs_first_comprehensive_report_-_17042019_0.pdf.
- 75 Financial Stability Board, "The Implications of Climate Change for Financial Stability."
- 76 Adam B. Smith, "2010-2019: A landmark decade of U.S. billion-dollar weather and climate disasters," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, January 8, 2020, available at https://www.climate.gov/news-features/blogs/ beyond-data/2010-2019-landmark-decade-us-billiondollar-weather-and-climate.
- 77 Bolton and others, "The green swan."
- 78 Tom Kompas, "U.S. \$23 trillion will be lost if temperatures rise four degrees by 2100," Phys.org, August 15, 2018, available at https://phys.org/news/2018-08-trillion-losttemperatures-degrees.html.
- 79 Matthew E. Kahn and others, "Long-term macroeconomic effects of climate change: A cross-country analysis" (Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research, 2019), available at https://www.nber.org/system/files/working_papers/w26167/w26167.pdf.
- 80 Alan Buis, "A Degree of Concern: Why Global Temperatures Matter," NASA, June 19, 2019, available at https://climate. nasa.gov/news/2878/a-degree-of-concern-why-globaltemperatures-matter/.
- 81 Skinner, "Central Banks and Climate Change."
- 82 European Central Bank, "Guide on climate-related and environmental risks: Supervisory expectations relating to risk management and disclosure" (Frankfurt, Germany: 2020), available at https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/ecb/pub/pdf/ssm.202011finalguideonclimate-relatedande nvironmentalrisks~58213f6564.en.pdf.
- 83 John H. Cochrane, "Testimony of John H. Cochrane to US Senate Committee on Banking Housing, and Urban Affairs," March 18, 2021, available at https://www.banking.senate. gov/imo/media/doc/Cochrane%20Testimony%203-18-21. pdf.
- 84 The private costs of higher equity requirements are typically overblown by the banking industry, as the associated decrease in debt costs offsets the higher cost of equity to some degree. Moreover, industry-driven arguments regarding the costs of equity focus almost exclusively on private costs and minimize the large social benefits that flow from a reduction in the likelihood of financial crises.
- 85 Anat R. Admati and others, "Fallacies, Irrelevant Facts, and Myths in the Discussion of Capital Regulation: Why Bank Equity is Not Expensive" (Stanford, CA: Stanford Graduate School of Business, 2013), available at https://www.gsb. stanford.edu/faculty-research/working-papers/fallaciesirrelevant-facts-myths-discussion-capital-regulation-why.
- 86 Lord Adair Turner, "Shadow Banking and Financial Instability," Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, April 16, 2012, available at https://corpgov.law.harvard. edu/2012/04/16/shadow-banking-and-financial-instability/.

- 87 Office of Sen. Dianne Feinstein, "Feinstein Introduces Bill to Minimize Climate Change Risk in Financial System," Press release, December 17, 2020, available at https:// www.feinstein.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/pressreleases?id=27A04819-E44D-435C-A806-F8C9D6051EB2; Gregg Gelzinis, "5 Priorities for the Financial Stability Oversight Council" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2021), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/economy/reports/2021/03/31/497439/5-prioritiesfinancial-stability-oversight-council/.
- 88 Climate-Related Market Risk Subcommittee, "Managing Climate Risk in the U.S. Financial System"; Ramani and others, "Addressing Climate as a Systemic Risk."
- 89 Gregg Gelzinis, "Strengthening the Regulation and Oversight of Shadow Banks: Revitalizing the Financial Stability Oversight Council" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/economy/reports/2019/07/18/471564/ strengthening-regulation-oversight-shadow-banks/.
- 90 Greg Ford, "A green supporting factor would weaken banks and do little for the environment," Finance Watch, February 2, 2018, available at https://www.finance-watch. org/a-green-supporting-factor-would-weaken-banks-anddo-little-for-the-environment/.
- 91 Sam Fleming and Jim Brunsden, "Brussels eyes easing bank rules to spur green lending," *Financial Times*, November 27, 2019, available at https://www.ft.com/content/bddc3850-1054-11ea-a7e6-62bf4f9e548a.
- 92 Jacob Dankert and others, "A Green Supporting Factor The Right Policy?", SUERF Policy Note 43 (2018), available at https://www.suerf.org/policynotes/3473/a-green-supporting-factor-the-right-policy.
- 93 Michela Zonta and Zoe Willingham, "A CRA to Meet the Challenge of Climate Change" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2020), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/reports/2020/12/17/493886/cra-meet-challenge-climatechange/.
- 94 Trevor Higgins, "The United States Must Lead on Clean Energy Investment," Center for American Progress, March 31, 2021, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/green/news/2021/03/31/497788/united-statesmust-lead-clean-energy-investment/.
- 95 Sara Budinis, "Direct Air Capture: More efforts needed" (Paris: International Energy Agency, 2020), available at https://www.iea.org/reports/direct-air-capture.
- 96 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "Special Report: Global Warming of 1.5 °Celsius."
- 97 Carney, "Breaking the tragedy of the horizon climate change and financial stability."

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

